Oregon State Bar Special Meeting of the Board of Governors March 18, 2011 Minutes

The meeting was called to order by President Steve Piucci at 1:28 p.m. on March 18, 2011, and adjourned at 1:48 p.m. Members present from the Board of Governors were Jenifer Billman, Hunter Emerick, Michael Haglund, Gina Johnnie, Matthew Kehoe, Christopher Kent, Ethan Knight, Steve Larson, Audrey Matsumonji, Kenneth Mitchell-Phillips, Mitzi Naucler and Maureen O'Connor. Staff present were Sylvia Stevens, Rod Wegener, Helen Hierschbiel and Camille Greene.

1. Call to Order

2. New Lawyer Mentoring Program

A. Approve Mentor Candidates

Mr. Piucci presented the slate of mentor candidates recommended by the Mentoring Task Force.

- **Motion:** Mr. Larson moved, Mr. Knight seconded, and the board voted unanimously to approve the slate of candidates. **[Exhibit A]**
 - B. Approve proposed Formal EOP on Lawyer-to-Lawyer Consulting, creation of the Standing Committee on Mentoring, and the NLMP curriculum as set out in the Manual.

Ms. Stevens presented the proposed formal opinion on lawyer-to-lawyer consulting, confidentiality, and conflict issues. She explained that a standing committee is contemplated in the NLMP rule adopted by the Supreme Court to oversee the program including recruiting and vetting mentor candidates and making changes in the curriculum or other aspects as appropriate. Ms. Stevens also clarified that the standing committee will have fewer members than the task force but will consist initially of several task force members. Mr. Piucci explained that the NLMP curriculum is similar to the Utah program, but modified by the task force after considerable discussion and assessment of what will work best in Oregon.

Motion: Mr. Larson moved, Mr. Emerick seconded, and the board voted unanimously to approve the formal opinion, the creation of the standing committee on mentoring, and the NLMP curriculum as set out in the NLMP Manual. [Exhibit B]

3. 9th Circuit Judicial Conference Nominees

Mr. Knight presented the Appointments Committee's background on the nominees for the 9th Circuit Judicial Conference. These names will be sent to Judge Aiken.

Motion: The board voted unanimously to approve the committee's motion to approve the list of nominees. **[Exhibit C]**

4. Good of the Order (Non-action comments, information and notice of need for possible future board action)

Aldrich, Dean E. (962080) Anderly, Andrea J. (901792) Angeli, Courtney W. (941765) Arellano, Joseph C. (801518) Armstrong, Chelsea Dawn (020670) Ashby, Wells (032601) Baca, David C. (821848) Barragar, Anne L. (871591) Barton, Robert E. (814637) Basham, Jonathan G. (900381) Bender, Laurie (881570) Bennett, J. David (710180) Berne, Gary M. (774077) Bernier, Thomas C. (771159) Bier, Lilian (861541) Blodgett, Bryan E. (851555) Bonaparte, Robert E L. (883411) Boutin, Roderick A. (821998) Bowersox, Jeffrey A. (814422) Breiling, Michael (952180) Bruington, Mary (984520) Brydolf, Ingrid (935260) Burke, Lawrence B. (892082) Burns, Justin J. (002220) Calzacorta, Carmen M. (841900) Capon, Craig (981928) Carson, Christopher T. (844502) Cascagnette, Bradley A. (022686) Cogan, Mark C. (920167) Connors, John J. (820380) Corson, Don (851777) Dahlin, Eric L. (965720) Davis, Ross G. (670222) Degner, David C. (771578) DePaolis, Diane M. (761194) Dilaconi, Barbara M. (911510) Duvall, Hubert (882000) Edelson, Jeffrey M. (880407) Engle, Douglas M. (822499) Ferris, John E. (660419) Fisher, Valerie (740958) Freed, Dennis N. (741030) Gaydos, Gerry (764138) Gedrose, Gareld Joel (802366) Glick, Richard M. (792384) Grover, Todd (982443) Hagan, Julia Maureen (850477) Hansen, Evan D. (033388) Hantke, Seth W. (012747)

Alexander, J. Michael (750106) Anderson, Mary F. (952016) Annand, Megan B. (925567) Arms, Adam Scott (010186) Arneson, James A. (770980) Aspell, Bradford J. (740159) Baker, Brian V. (930304) Barrett, James M. (011991) Barton, William A. (720209) Bassos, Alexander C. (981824) Bendixsen, Kurt C. (881588) Berge, John A. (871663) Bernick, Carol J. (894098) Bertholf, Michael P. (044642) Blackhurst, Steven K. (730320) Boehmer, Colette (824924) Borg, C. Lane (850294) Bowerman, Donald B. (590110) Bowman, Timothy M. (771220) Brown, David G. (025232) Bryant, Neil R. (730417) Buchanan, William Fred (932223) Burke, Stefanie L. (032783) Butler, Robert D. (670150) Campbell, Stephen D. (801858) Carpenter, Sarah E. (002277) Carter, Jeff J. (822159) Cauble, Walter L. (670182) Connors, E. Michael (954956) Cooke, Jenny (791930) Crooks, Sarah J. (971512) Davis, John E (Jack) (750912) Deatherage, William V. (540254) DeJong, Timothy (940662) Diehl, Jonathan (011343) Duden, Paul R. (660354) Dwyer, Roy (620263) Edwards, Craig K. (802137) Ferris, Arminda J. (791693) Fisher, L. Kent (912684) Foster, Eric R. (021164) Gallaher, David D. (741079) Gaylord, William A. (731043) Gerber, Susan R. (992651) Greene, S. Ward (774131) Hadlock, Erika L. (912978) Han, Bik-Na (993399) Hansen, Kurt F. (842400) Harris, Stuart C. (920056)

Heatherman, Patricia L. (932990) Hedlund, Gary L. (731297) Heth, Jacob A. (970212) Hillier, Thomas S. (802642) Hopkins, Robert B. (731430) Howes, Thomas C. (721286) Hubel, Dennis J. (761789) Hull, Jay D. (842511) Hurley, James V. (610403) James, Bronson D. (033499) Johansen, Eric R. (822919) Jones, Steven P. (782628) Karnopp, Dennis C. (670610) Kauffman, Samuel C. (943527) Koch, Anne E. (013190) Kono, Kevin H. (023528) Landis, Erin Keith (023607) Larson, Steve D. (863540) Levine, Michael Robert (931421) Ludwig, Lisa J. (953387) Ma, Akana K J. (950910) MacRitchie, Brian John (793115) Mansfield, William A. (530710) Mark, Stacey E. (872949) Marmaduke, Don H. (530727) Matthews, Kendra M. (965672) McCormack, Christopher A. (001769) McGaughey, Robert J. (800787) McGrory, Jr., John F. (813115) McNair, Charles (752548) Mierjeski, Edward (821626) Mooney, Jenna Leigh (993249) Morrow, Andrew J. (803190) Myrick, Lynn M. (752745) Nelson, Adrienne C. (960985) Norris, Dan (881341) Panner, Owen (500876) Peachey, Thomas C. (783319) Peters, Daniel B. (903586) Pirner, Deborah L. (993453) Querin, Phillip C. (722070) Rahmsdorff, Terry L. (732422) Raschio, Robert S. (013864) Reynolds, Garry (753150) Richter, Peter C. (711465) Rocker, David Casby (944218) Roome, Ronald L. (880976) Sanchez, Michael G. (951593) Sawyer, Sandra (831368)

Heckert, Beth (872472) Hercher, David W. (812639) Hill, Steven L. (933190) Hogan, Teresa (854015) Houze, Stephen A. (721261) Hubbard, Rose L. (890630) Huddleston, Mark D. (792700) Hull, Mary P. (973740) Jacobson, Jerry A. (761843) Jensen, Deanna Ballou (013026) Jones, Robert E. (530569) Joslin, Ryan S. (972962) Karpinski, Alan W. (882397) Ketterling, Keith A. (913368) Kohlmetz, Andrew M. (955418) Lagesen, Jason Riley (033664) Lane, Richard K. (721451) Laurick, James P. (821530) Levy, Paul E. (872852) Lyon, Jesse D. (982862) MacFarlane, Ingrid (863328) Maloney, Paul T. (013366) Mardikes, George M. (890805) Markowitz, David B. (742046) Masih, Aruna A. (973241) McCord, Michael B. (783000) McDonald, David T. (862430) McGrath, Michael Thomas (013445) McIntosh, Dawn M. (923924) Meltebeke, Brenda L. (923988) Miller, Jr., William R. (752610) Morrison, Sheila Fox (032626) Moscato, Frank A. (721752) Nash, Karla L. (942037) Newell, Robert D. (790917) Nunn, Robert W. (762731) Parker, Laurance W. (882863) Perry, Tatiana A. (003480) Phillips, Michael Connelly (823309) Powers, Steven R. (013825) Rackner, Laura (843280) Ransom, John S. (742655) Ravassipour, Kelly W. (021322) Richman, Mark (043990) Roberts, Beth L. (935213) Rogers, Keith B. (763153) Rothauge, Renee E. (903712) Sawyer, Loren L. (590861) Saxton, Ronald L. (793763)

Schaleger, Rebecca S. (003774) Schmor, Douglass H. (763257) Shadbeh, Nargess (853284) Shipsey, Krista (943850) Skerjanec, Carol DeHaven (941758) Smith, Sharon R. (862920) Sorensen-Jolink, M. Scott (774188) Stockton, William H. (743163) Storey, Shannon (034688) Strom, Trina J. (870886) Sussman, Marc (773687) Tarbox, Bruce (001181) Thuemmel, Robert G. (773759) Tintera, Thomas J. (813953) Tongue, Thomas Michael (993819) Trubo, Herbert A. (733066) Tyler, Lee Ogden (843678) VanLeuven, Joseph M. (824189) Waggoner, James C. (743307) Watkins, Ulanda Lynette (964516) Welborn, Gordon L. (870965) Whittemore, Richard J. (824512) Wilner-Nugent, Bear (044549) Yraguen, Francisco J. (701651)

Schimmelbusch, Erik S. (973908) Scholl, Greg (954039) Sherlag, Steven J. (931034) Simko, Joshua K. (034538) Smith, Bruce D. (722404) Sokol, Larry N. (722475) Stannard, Mindy S. (044223) Stone, Richard J. (940021) Strever, Kevin K. (853395) Studenberg, Philip W. (784468) Talcott, Anne Marie (965325) Thomas, Kevin S. (984061) Thurber, Kent B. (753640) Tomasi, Valerie Athena (841583) Trinchero, Mark P. (883221) Turner, Lisa Marie (014817) Uerlings, James R. (760307) Wada, Mark R. (784199) Wallace, Jeffrey (763730) Watts, Susan E. (773845) Whipple, B. Scott (983750) Wickre, James A. (743418) Wyers, Teunis J. (763873)



New Lawyer Mentoring Program Manual

Resources for New Lawyers and Mentors

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	2
OPERATING PROCEDURES AND POLICIES	3
FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS	7
TIPS FOR SUCCESS	.11
NEW LAWYER MINIMUM CONTINUING LEGAL EDUCATION REQUIREMENTS	.12
ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS IN MENTORING	.14
OREGON STATE BAR STATEMENT OF PROFESSIONALISM	.19
SELECTED OREGON RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT	.20
NEW LAWYER MENTORING PROGRAM RULE	.22
NLMP CALENDAR FOR 2011-SPRING SESSION [*]	.24
NLMP CALENDAR FOR 2011-FALL SESSION [*]	.24
INITIAL MEETING GUIDE	.25
APPENDIX OF FORMS	.26

INTRODUCTION

The first years of a lawyer's practice are a critical time in the development of professional habits, practices and character. To facilitate this transition into the practice of law, the Oregon Supreme Court, in conjunction with the Bar, has created the New Lawyer Mentoring Program. The goal of the NLMP is to introduce new lawyers to the high standards of integrity, professional conduct, professional competence and service to the public that are an Oregon tradition.

Shortly after admission, each new lawyer (unless deferred or exempt), will be paired with an experienced lawyer who has practiced for at least seven years and who has been selected by the Court for his or her commitment to ethics, professionalism and professional skills. Together, the new lawyer and the mentor will develop a curriculum of activities to introduce the new lawyer to the legal community and to the practical application of ethics, civility and professionalism. The new lawyer will also receive practical guidance about client relations and law office management, as well as explore practical skills in a substantive area of the law. The mentor will be a coach and a guide as the new lawyer adjusts to the challenges of law practice. Finally, working with the new lawyer will allow the mentor to see the profession through new, enthusiastic eyes and help the mentor understand generational differences.

The NLMP is premised on one-to-one interaction as a supplement to traditional classroom-style continuing education programs that new lawyers attend. Although it consists of a series of mandatory activities and experiences, the NLMP is flexible enough to complement and coordinate with existing law firm training programs as well as the special training needs of government, corporate, and public interest practices.

The success of the NLMP depends on the commitment of both the mentors and the new lawyers, and the Court and the Bar appreciate the devotion of time, energy and skill that will be required on both sides. We are confident that mentors and new lawyers alike will benefit from the program.

This manual contains information about and forms for enrolling in the NLMP, developing the individual mentoring program, and certifying completion. It also has some tips for successful mentoring relationships, a copy of the Supreme Court's New Lawyer Mentoring Rule, and selected Oregon Rules of Professional Conduct. Questions not addressed in the manual can be directed to the NLMP Administrator, Kateri Walsh at 503-431-6406, or NLMP Coordinator, Karla Houtary at 503-431-6367.

OPERATING PROCEDURES AND POLICIES

1. Enrollment, Exemptions and Deferrals

- a. The New Lawyer Mentoring Program (NLMP) will operate in two sessions each year. The first begins in mid-May (Spring Session) and the second begins in mid-October (Fall Session). New lawyers who take the oath of office at times other than the scheduled swearing-in ceremonies will be assigned to a session by the NLMP administrator.
- b. Within 28 days of admission, new lawyers must either enroll in the NLMP, certify they are exempt, or request a deferment.
- c. New lawyers are exempt from the NLMP if they have engaged in the active, substantial and continuous practice of law in another jurisdiction for two or more years prior to admission in Oregon.
- d. New lawyers who are not practicing law, including judicial clerks, may request to defer participation in the NLMP until they begin practicing, at which time they must enroll in the next available NLMP session.
- e. New lawyers who practice outside the state of Oregon will be deferred from participation in the NLMP if the Bar determines that mentoring cannot be arranged conveniently. If a new lawyer deferred for this reason established a principal office in Oregon within the first two years of admission, the new lawyer must enroll in the next available NLMP session.

2. Mentor Match

- a. The Bar will match new lawyers with mentors based principally on geography and practice area. To the extent possible and practicable, consideration will be given to preferences for gender, age, ethnicity and other factors identified by a new lawyer or a mentor.
- b. New lawyers employed in law firms, government offices, corporate law departments, or other group practices may request either an "inside" or an "outside" mentor. An "inside" mentor is in the same firm or office as the new lawyer. An "outside" mentor is a lawyer not in the same firm or office as the new lawyer. New lawyers may request a specific mentor; if the mentor requested has not been appointed by the Supreme Court, a conditional match will be made pending the mentor's appointment.
- c. The Bar will match new lawyers and mentors within 14 days of the Bar's receipt of the new lawyer's enrollment form in most cases, after which written notice of the match and respective contact information will be provided to the new lawyer and the mentor.
- d. The new lawyers is responsible for arranging the initial meeting with the mentor, and the meeting must take place within 28 days of the announcement of the match.

3. Designing the Mentoring Plan

- a. The Mentoring Plan includes core concepts and experiences that will introduce new lawyers to practical aspects of lawyering with which all lawyers need to be familiar for the successful and professional practice of law. The Mentoring Plan has six component parts:
 - Introduction to the Legal Community;
 - Rules of Professional Conduct, Professionalism, and Cultural Competence;
 - Introduction to Law Office Management;
 - Working With Clients;
 - Career Development:
 - ✓ Public Service,
 - ✓ Bar Programs,
 - ✓ Work/Life Balance
 - Practice Area Basic Skills.

Parts 1-5 are comprised of specific topics that the new lawyer must discuss with the mentor and specific activities that the new lawyer must complete and review with the mentor. In the Practice Area component, the new lawyer selects and completes, then discusses with the mentor, a minimum of 10 basic skill activities in one or more substantive practice areas that best match the new lawyer's interests.

- b. During the initial meeting, the new lawyer and the mentor should review the required elements of the mentoring plan identify the practice areas the new lawyer will focus on during the mentorship.
- c. The mentoring plan may include as many practice area activities as the new lawyer and mentor agree are practical, but must include at least 10 activities from one or more practice areas. The activities listed in the substantive areas are not exclusive; the new lawyer and mentor may supplement the listed activities or substitute others that they identify as basic competency skills. Similarly, if the new lawyer is interested in a substantive area for which no activities are suggested, the new lawyer and the mentor may develop a customized elective plan of activities designed to build basic skills in that area.
- d. If the mentor does not have experience in the practice area or areas the new lawyer wishes to focus on, the mentor should help the new lawyer find another experienced lawyer who practices in the subject area to assist in mentoring the new lawyer. In that situation, the mentors may split the allowed mentoring continuing education credits.
- e. A new lawyer employed by a law firm, corporate legal department, or governmental unit may complete an alternate mentoring plan based on the employer's established training program, provided the program covers the areas required by the NLMP.
- f. A new lawyer who has completed some of the mentoring plan activities as a law clerk or otherwise prior to admission may also develop a customized plan with the mentor that will build on existing skills in the component areas.

4. Completing the Mentoring Plan

- a. The mentoring plan is designed to be completed in approximately one year. It is expected that new lawyers and their mentors will meet at least once each month for twelve months, and that each meeting will last approximately 90 minutes to allow sufficient time to review and discuss the various experiences and activities that make up the mentoring plan and to monitor the new lawyer's progress.
- b. New lawyers who are mentored within their law firm, corporate legal department, or governmental unit may complete some of their required activities in small group settings rather than by individual discussion with their inside mentors.
- c. When all mentoring plan activities have been completed, the new lawyer and the mentor shall sign a Certificate of Completion. The new lawyer is responsible for filing the Certificate with the Bar, accompanied by a fee of \$100. When the Certificate has been filed, the new lawyer will be awarded six (6) hours of Minimum Continuing Legal Education credit that can be applied to the new lawyer's *next* reporting period (not the first reporting period on admission). See MCLE Regulation 6.100.
- d. The Certificate of Completion must be filed with the Bar on or before December 31 of the new lawyer's first full year of admission. (For example, new lawyers admitted in 2011 will have until December 31, 2012 to complete their plans and file the certificate of completion.)
- e. A new lawyer who is unable to complete the plan within the allowed time may be granted additional time for good cause shown. Examples of good cause include health issues, a change in employment, or other circumstances that prevent the new lawyer from working on the mentoring plan. The new lawyer must submit a Request for additional time in writing on or before the completion deadline.

5. Noncompliance, Suspension and Reinstatement.

- a. A new lawyer who fails to complete the mentoring plan on time (and who has not been granted an extension) will be given written notice and shall have 60 days from the date of the notice to cure the noncompliance.
- b. If the noncompliance is not cured (by completing the mentoring plan) within the time allowed, the Executive Director shall recommend to the Supreme Court that the new lawyer be suspended from membership in the Bar.
- c. During a period of suspension, the new lawyer may not engage in the practice of law.
- d. A suspended new lawyer may apply for reinstatement as soon as the mentoring plan is completed. In addition to the reinstatement application, the new lawyer must submit the Certificate of Completion, the NLMP fee of \$100 and a reinstatement fee of \$100.
- e. Upon receipt of a satisfactory application for reinstatement, the Executive Director will forward a recommendation to the Supreme Court that the new lawyer be reinstated to active membership. Reinstatement is effective upon approval by the Supreme Court.

f. A reinstatement after suspension for not completing the NLMP has no effect upon any other aspect of the new lawyer's status, including any suspension for nonpayment of membership fees, MCLE noncompliance or a disciplinary proceeding.

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS

1. Is the NLMP Mandatory?

Yes, all newly admitted members of the Oregon State Bar must participate in the program unless they have already practiced in another jurisdiction for at least two years.

2. What if I am unemployed or otherwise not practicing law after admission?

New lawyers who do not have plans to begin practicing law immediately after admission, including new lawyers who are working as judicial clerks, may request a deferral until such time as they begin practicing law.

3. When do I start the NLMP?

Unless exempt or deferred, new lawyers must enroll in the NLMP by filing the enrollment form with the Bar within 28 days after admission to the bar. New lawyers who are granted a deferral must enroll in the next available NLMP session following their beginning to practice law.

4. Who are the mentors?

Mentors are Oregon bar members in good standing who have at least seven years of experience in the practice of law. They must have a reputation for competence and for conducting themselves ethically and professionally.

5. How are mentors selected?

Initially, bar leaders around the state were asked to nominate qualified lawyers in their communities. The nominees were reviewed by the NMLP Task Force recruitment committee, which recommended suitable candidates to the Board of Governors. The slated of mentors approved by the BOG was then sent to the Supreme Court for appointment. For the second and subsequent sessions, bar members will be invited to nominate themselves. The BOG's standing Committee on the NLMP will review the candidates and make recommendations to the Supreme Court.

6. Do mentors get any special training?

Yes. All appointed mentors are required to screen a training video prepared by the Bar. In addition to familiarizing mentors with the creation and execution of the mentoring plan, the training video includes ideas and tips for establishing successful mentoring relationships.

7. How do I find a mentor?

The Bar will match new lawyers with mentors who have been appointed by the Supreme Court. The principal criteria for the match will be location and practice area interest,

although other factors, such as a preference for gender, ethnicity, or age will be given consideration to the extent possible.

8. Does my mentor have to be a lawyer in my firm?

Generally, lawyers employed in law firms, corporate legal departments, and government offices will be matched with a mentor in the same firm or office. However, new lawyers may request and will then be matched with an "outside" mentor.

9. Can I choose my own mentor?

A new lawyer's request for a specific mentor will be taken into consideration, provided the mentor is qualified and appointed by the court.

10. What is the Mentoring Plan?

The Mentoring Plan sets out the activities the new lawyer will work on with the mentor during the mentoring year. It is comprised of five areas of required activities and one practice area selected by the new lawyer. The elective activities may be in one or more substantive areas and must include at least 10 basic skills activities. Several practice area activities are contained in this manual. If a new lawyer wishes to focus on a substantive area not covered in the manual, the new lawyer and the mentor may identify basic skill activities related to that substantive area.

11. Can I get credit for Mentoring Plan activities that I have already completed prior to admission?

Prior experience as a lawyer clerk or otherwise prior to admission will not exempt a new lawyer from the NLMP. However, the new lawyer and the mentor may design a customized mentoring plan that has the same focus but builds on existing knowledge and skills through more advanced activities.

12. How much time will the NLMP require?

The NLMP mentoring plan is designed to be completed in approximately twelve months if the new lawyer and mentor meet regularly. As a guide, the new lawyer and mentor should expect to meet monthly for approximately 90 minutes. Because the Certificate of Completion doesn't have to be filed until December 31 of the first full year of admission, however, new lawyers will actually have 14 to 17 months to complete their plans.

13. Do I have to complete the new admittee MCLE requirements in addition to the Mentoring Plan?

Yes. The NLMP does not replace the Minimum Continuing Legal Education requirements for new admittees. (See MCLE Rule 3.3(b).) However, upon successful completion of the NLMP, new lawyers are awarded six MCLE credits that can be carried forward into their first three-year reporting period.

14. Do new lawyers receive MCLE credit for participating in the NLMP?

Yes, see question #10 above.

15. Do mentors receive MCLE credit?

Yes, the Board of Governors has determined that mentors may claim 8 general MCLE credits for mentoring a new lawyer. If another lawyer assists with the mentoring, the credits may be apportioned between them according to their respective responsibility for the mentoring.

16. What do I do if I have a problem with my mentor?

If a mentor is not making time for regular meetings or is not providing helpful guidance and coaching through the mentoring plan activities, a new mentor can be assigned. New lawyers are encouraged to give the relationship some time to develop and to remember that the NLMP mentor may not be able to satisfy all of the needs for support that the new lawyer may have. There are many voluntary mentoring programs available and new lawyers are encouraged to participate in as many as they feel is helpful or appropriate.

17. What if I can't complete my Mentoring Plan within the time allowed?

If a new lawyer does not believe that December 31 deadline can be met due to health or personal issues, job changes or other circumstances beyond their control, an extension may be granted for good cause shown. A request for an extension must be submitted in writing to the Bar prior to the December 31 deadline. A new lawyer who does not qualify for an extension and who does not complete the plan in time will be given written notice and 60 days to cure the noncompliance (by completing the plan). Failure to complete the plan will result in the Executive Director recommending that the noncomplying new lawyer be suspended from membership in the Bar and, consequently, from the practice of law.

18. How do I establish completion of the Mentoring Plan?

When all of the activities of the Mentoring Plan have been completed, the new lawyer and the mentor sign the Certificate of Completion. The new lawyer is responsible for filing the Certificate and a copy of the completed Mentoring Plan with the Bar and paying the \$100 fee.

19. What if I can't afford the fee?

At the sole discretion of the Executive Director, the NLMP fee may be waived in cases of financial hardship or special circumstances. Requests for a fee waiver must be submitted in writing to the Executive Director and include the reason for the request accompanied by a summary of the applicant's income and expenses.

20. How do I get reinstated from a suspension?

A new lawyer suspended for failing to timely complete the mentoring plan can apply to the Executive Director for reinstatement by submitting the appropriate reinstatement form accompanied by the Certificate of Completion, paying the NLMP fee of \$100 and paying the reinstatement fee of \$100. If the submission is satisfactory to the Executive Director, a recommendation for the applicant's reinstatement will be sent to the Supreme Court.

TIPS FOR SUCCESS

If you are a mentor...

- Make the time and take the time to develop a meaningful mentoring relationship and consider it an opportunity for mutual learning.
- Listen to your new lawyer's concerns and, especially in the beginning, draw out those concerns that the new lawyer may be reluctant to raise.
- Create a safe environment for the new lawyer's growth by being accessible and nonjudgmental, keeping confidences, and inviting open and frank conversations.
- Acknowledge the issues facing new lawyers who are ethnic minorities, or who may face particular challenges because of their religion, sexual orientation, economic status, national origin or age.
- Remember that the only stupid question is the one that isn't asked. Encourage your new lawyer to ask, ask, ask. Be respectful and responsive with your answers.
- Your responsibility is not to direct or supervise your new lawyer's work, but to be a coach and guide for the development of professional values and skills.
- Share your experience and talent freely. Be the role model you would want.

If you are a new lawyer...

- Be respectful of your mentor's time. Be prompt and give plenty of notice if you need to reschedule a meeting. Make good use of your meeting time; come prepared with a list of things you want to discuss.
- Your mentor's "war stories" can be valuable learning tools, especially if you can relate them to a situation of your own.
- Ask questions! Don't let your ego get in the way of accepting feedback and constructive criticism from your mentor.
- Build multiple mentor relationships; your NLMP mentor will not be able to counsel or advise you in every aspect of your professional or personal life. Develop effective networks with peers, other lawyers in and outside your workplace, judges, family and friends.
- Your reputation in the community will be based on your interactions with your mentor, your work colleagues, opposing counsel, court staff and judges. Nurture it and guard it jealously.

NEW LAWYER MINIMUM CONTINUING LEGAL EDUCATION REQUIREMENTS

In addition to the NLMP, new lawyers must meet the new admittee MCLE requirement of 15 hours of accredited CLE The 15 hours consist of practical skill courses, ethics (including a child abuse reporting course) and an introductory course in access to justice:

3.3 Reinstatements, Resumption of Practice After Retirement and New Admittees.

* * *

(b) New admittees shall complete 15 credit hours of accredited CLE activity in the first reporting period after admission as an active member, including two credit hours in ethics (including one in child abuse reporting), and ten credit hours in practical skills.... New admittees admitted on or after January 1, 2009 must also complete a three credit hour OSB-approved introductory course in access to justice. The MCLE Administrator may waive the practical skills requirement for a new admittee who has practiced law in another jurisdiction for three consecutive years immediately prior to the member's admission in Oregon, in which event the new admittee must complete ten hours in other areas. After a new admittee's first reporting period, the requirements in Rule 3.2(a) shall apply.

Unless a new lawyer's participation in the NLMP is deferred, the first MCLE reporting period runs concurrently with the NLMP and ends on December 31 of the first full calendar year of admission:

3.7 Reporting Period.

* * *

(b) New Admittees. The first reporting period for a new admittee shall start on the date of admission as an active member and shall end on December 31 of the next calendar year. All subsequent reporting periods shall be three years.

The practical skills requirement will address many of the topics that the new lawyer will discuss with the mentor and may be completed in one single program (such as the OSB PLF *Learning the Ropes* program) or in several shorter programs:

3.400 Practical Skills Requirement.

(a) A practical skills program is one which includes courses designed primarily to instruct new admittees in the methods and means of the practice of law. This includes those courses which involve instruction in the practice of law generally, instruction in the management of a legal practice, and instruction in particular substantive law areas designed for new practitioners. A practical skills program may include but shall not be limited to instruction in: client contact and relations; court proceedings; negotiation and settlement; alternative dispute resolution; malpractice avoidance; personal management assistance; the negative aspects of substance abuse to a law practice; and practice management assistance topics such as tickler and docket control systems, conflict systems, billing, trust and general accounting, file management, and computer systems.

The introductory Access to Justice course must be one that is specifically approved as such by the MCLE Administrator:

3.600 Introductory Course in Access to Justice. In order to qualify as an introductory course in access to justice required by MCLE Rule 3.3(b), the three-hour program must meet the accreditation standards set forth in MCLE Rule 5.5(b) and include discussion of at least three of the following areas: race, gender, economic status, creed, color, religion, national origin, disability, age or sexual orientation.

Note that not all programs approved for Access to Justice credits meets the requirements for the introductory course.

If you have any questions about your MCLE requirements or whether any particular CLE program will fulfill the new admittee requirements, please call the OSB MCLE Department at (503) 620 0222 ext. 368 or toll free in Oregon 1-800-452-8260, ext. 368, or e-mail your questions to Denise Cline, MCLE Administrator, at <u>dcline@osbar.or</u> or Jenni Abalan at <u>jabalan@osbar.org</u>.

ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS IN MENTORING

FORMAL ETHICS OPINION NO. 2011-184

Lawyer to Lawyer Consulting: Confidentiality, Conflicts of Interest

Facts:

Lawyer A participates in a mentoring program for new lawyers. Lawyer B is Lawyer A's mentor and is not in Lawyer A's law firm. Lawyer A wishes to discuss a matter concerning one of his clients with Lawyer B.

Lawyer C is a solo practitioner. She is a member of an email listserv maintained by a professional organization that provides members the opportunity to exchange ideas and respond to questions about problems and issues that arise in their practice. Lawyer C encounters an unusual situation in a case she is handling and wishes to receive advice on how to proceed from knowledgeable colleagues who participate in her listserv.

Questions:

1. May Lawyer A disclose information relating to the representation of his client with Lawyer B?

2. May Lawyer B consult regarding Lawyer A's client matter without first checking for conflicts of interest between Lawyer A's client and any client of Lawyer B's firm?

3. May Lawyer C relate the details of the unusual situation she has encountered to other lawyers who participate in her professional organization's listserv?

Conclusions:

- 1. Yes, qualified.
- 2. See discussion.
- 3. Yes, qualified.

Discussion:

Oregon RPC 1.6 provides, in pertinent part:

(1) A lawyer shall not reveal information relating to the representation of a client unless the client gives informed consent, the disclosure is impliedly authorized in order to carry out the representation or the disclosure is permitted by paragraph (b).

Oregon RPC 1.7 provides, in pertinent part:

Except as provided in paragraph (b), a lawyer shall not represent a client if the representation involves a current conflict of interest. A current conflict of interest exists if:

(1) the representation of one client will be directly adverse to another client;

(2) there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client, a former client or a third person or by a personal interest of the lawyer; or....

It is not uncommon for a lawyer working on a client matter to seek the guidance or assistance of a knowledgeable colleague. Except where the client has specifically instructed otherwise, lawyers may consult with colleagues within their own firms or who are formally associated on a client's matter violating the duties to safeguard confidential information and avoid conflicts of interest.

A lawyer may also on occasion seek the advice of colleagues who are not members of the lawyer's firm or associated on a client matter. Whether those discussions arise in the context of a formal mentoring relationship or through informal discussions, such as on a professional listserv or in casual conversation, both the lawyer seeking advice and the lawyer giving the advice must exercise care to avoid violating their duties to their respective clients.

The American Bar Association's Standing Committee on Ethics and Professional Responsibility Formal Opinion 98-411, *"Ethical Issues in Lawyer-to-Lawyer Consultation,"* provides practical guidance on this subject.¹ Even though ABA opinion was adopted before listservs and other electronic discussion tools² were commonly used by lawyers and makes no reference to them or to lawyer mentoring programs, the principles it discusses and the guidance it provides are applicable in these contexts.³

I. Considerations for the Consulting Lawyer

Oregon RPC 1.6 safeguards "all information relating to the representation of a client," and prohibits disclosure of such information without the client's informed consent or as provided in one of the specific exceptions to the rule. There is no exemption for lawyers participating in mentorship programs or for other lawyers seeking assistance on behalf of clients. RPC 1.6(a) permits disclosure of confidential information, without the informed consent of a client, where the disclosure is "impliedly authorized to carry out the representation..." The rule does not suggest what kind of disclosures might be impliedly authorized, the ABA opinion interprets Rule 1.6 "to allow disclosures of client information to lawyers outside the firm when the consulting lawyer reasonably believes the disclosure will further the representation by

¹ Formal Opinion 98-411 (1998), available at: www.abanet.org/media/youraba/200911/98-411.pdf ² For purposes of this opinion, when reference is made to "listservs" the same considerations apply to discussions on blogs, online community "bulletin boards" or similar electronic discussion venues.

³ The ABA opinion purports to apply equally to consultations about the substance or procedure of a client's matter and to consultations about the consulting lawyer's own ethical responsibilities in the matter. However, since the ABA opinion was issued, both the ABA and Oregon have adopted rules that expressly permit disclosure of otherwise confidential information to the extent reasonably necessary "to secure legal advice about the lawyers compliance with these Rules." ABA Model Rule 1.6(b)(4) and Oregon RPC 1.6(b)(3). Comment [9] to the ABA Model Rule suggests that such disclosures may be impliedly authorized for the lawyer to carry out the representation but, even if not, are permitted "because of the importance of a lawyer's compliance with the Rules of Professional Conduct." This opinion is limited to consultations between lawyers unrelated to the lawyer's own professional conduct.

obtaining the consulted lawyer's experience or expertise for the benefit of the consulting lawyer's client."

Consultations that are general in nature and that do not involve disclosure of information relating to the representation of a specific client do not implicate Rule 1.6. For instance, there would be no violation of the rule in a listserv inquiry seeking the name or citation for a recent case on a subject relevant to a client matter or to discussions about an issue of law or procedure that might be present in a client matter. Similarly, inquiries or discussions posed as hypotheticals generally do not implicate RPC 1.6. Accordingly, Lawyer A might safely pose a question to Lawyer B, or Lawyer C might post an inquiry on a listserv, as a hypothetical case.

Framing a question as a hypothetical is not a perfect solution, however. Lawyers faces a significant risk of violating Rule 1.6 when posing hypothetical questions if the facts provided permit persons outside the lawyer's firm to determine the client's identity. Where the facts are so unique or where other circumstances might reveal the identity of the consulting lawyer's client even without the client being named, the lawyer must first obtain the client's informed consent for the disclosures.

To obtain "informed consent," a lawyer must provide a client with "adequate information and explanation about the material risks of and reasonably available alternatives to the proposed course of conduct."⁴ As noted in the ABA opinion, that may include an explanation that the disclosure may constitute a waiver of attorney-client privilege or might otherwise prejudice the client's interests.

A lawyer should avoid consulting with another lawyer who is likely to be or to become counsel for an adverse party in the matter. In the absence of an agreement to the contrary, the consulted lawyer does not assume any obligation to the consulting lawyer's client by simply participating in the consultation.⁵ The consulting lawyer thus risks divulging sensitive information to a client's current or future adversary, who is not prohibited from subsequently using the information for the benefit of his or her own client. This should be a particular concern to Lawyer C if she posts her inquiry to a listservs, whose members may represent parties on all sides of legal issues. Moreover, no listserv, regardless the restrictions and limitations upon those who participate in it, can assure that messages will be read only by persons aligned with the interests of the lawyer posting an inquiry. Lawyer C, in seeking to consult about an unusual fact pattern, must be careful about using a listserv to obtain assistance from other attorneys, at least not without the informed consent of her client about the potential risks of the consultation.

⁴ Oregon RPC 1.0(g).

⁵ The ABA opinions suggests that an agreement to maintain confidentiality might be inferred in some situations, such as where the consulting lawyer puts conditions on the consultation or where the information discussed is of a nature that a reasonable lawyer would assume its confidentiality. In the absence of any authority, however, practitioners should not assume a confidentiality agreement will be inferred.

One way for a consulting lawyer to avoid some of the foregoing risks is to obtain an agreement that the consulted lawyer will both maintain the confidentiality of information disclosed and not engage in representation adverse to the consulting lawyer's client.

II. Considerations for the Consulted Lawyer

As discussed above, a consulted lawyer assumes no obligations to the consulting lawyer's client by the mere fact of the consultation. Lawyer B will not have violated any duty to Lawyers A's client under Rule 1.6 if Lawyer B later discloses or uses information received from Lawyer A, including in circumstances where Lawyer B undertakes representation adverse to Lawyer A's client.

Even a consultation premised on hypothetical facts can have practical implications for the consulted lawyer if the guidance provided to the consulting lawyer is used to harm a client of the consulted lawyer. The ABA opinion illustrates this point with the example of a lawyer skilled in real estate matters, like our Lawyer B, who is consulted by a less experienced lawyer, such as our Lawyer A, about how a tenant might void a lease. As a result of Lawyer B's guidance, Lawyer A's client repudiates a lease. Lawyer B subsequently learns that the landlord whose lease was repudiated is a client of Lawyer B's firm.

In that situation, if there was no confidentiality agreement between the lawyers, Lawyer B has a duty to inform the landlord client about the consultation and its possible consequences. While doing so does not breach any duties to Lawyer A's client or to Lawyer B's client, the practical result may be allegations of negligence or ethical misconduct by the landlord client and the destruction of the relationship. Had Lawyers A and B entered a confidentiality agreement regarding the consultation, then Lawyer Band his firm could be disqualified under Rule 1.10. if Lawyer B's obligations under that agreement would materially limit his ability to represent the landlord in the matter.⁶

Lawyer B can avoid the problems posed by the above example by insisting, prior to any consultation with Lawyer A about a client matter, that Lawyer A provide the identity of the client so that Lawyer B can check for possible conflicts with clients of Lawyer B's firm. In addition to checking for possible conflicts, Lawyer B might seek an agreement from Lawyer A, on behalf of Lawyer A's client, that the consultation will not create any obligations by Lawyer B to Lawyer A's client.

Consultations among lawyers, whether during the course of a mentorship program, on listservs and other "social media," during continuing education programs or in more informal settings, are an important part of a lawyer's professional development and a critical component in representing clients. Indeed, such consultations may be one way in which lawyers fulfill their ethical duty, under Oregon RPC 1.1, to provide competent representation. But lawyers who are not members of the same firm or affiliated on a particular case must be mindful of other ethical obligations to clients. For the consulting lawyer, like Lawyers A and C this opinion, care should

⁶ Oregon RPC 1.7(a)(2) prohibits a lawyer from representing a client if there is "a significant risk that the representation...will be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to...a third person...," except where the affected client gives informed consent, confirmed in writing.

be taken not to violate the duty to maintain the confidentiality of information relating to the representation of a client. For the consulted lawyer, like Lawyer B, the duty of loyalty to existing clients must be considered. Even though a consultation will not create an attorneyclient relationship between the client of the consulting lawyer and the consulted lawyer, there may be circumstances, as illustrated above, where the consulted lawyer will need to check for possible conflicts of interest, or take other prophylactic measures, to ensure that an obligation to current clients is not impaired.

Approved by Board of Governors, March 2011.

OREGON STATE BAR STATEMENT OF PROFESSIONALISM

(adopted by the Oregon Supreme Court December 1, 2006)

As lawyers, we belong to a profession that serves our clients and the public good. As officers of the court, we aspire to a professional standard of conduct that goes beyond merely complying with the ethical rules. Professionalism is the courage to care about and act for the benefit of our clients, our peers, our careers, and the public good. Because we are committed to professionalism, we will conduct ourselves in a way consistent with the following principles in dealing with our clients, opposing parties, opposing counsel, the courts, and the public.

- I will promote the integrity of the profession and the legal system.
- I will work to ensure access to justice for all segments of society.
- I will avoid all forms of illegal or unethical discrimination.
- I will protect and improve the image of the legal profession in the eyes of the public.
- I will promote respect for the courts.
- I will support the education of the public about the legal system.
- I will work to achieve my client's goals, while at the same time maintain my professional ability to give independent legal advice to my client.
- I will always advise my clients of the costs and potential benefits or risks of any considered legal position or course of action.
- I will communicate fully and openly with my client, and use written fee agreements with my clients.
- I will not employ tactics that are intended to delay, harass, or drain the financial resources of any party.
- I will always be prepared for any proceeding in which I am representing my client.
- I will be courteous and respectful to my clients, to adverse litigants and adverse counsel, and to the court.
- I will only pursue positions and litigation that have merit.
- I will explore all legitimate methods and opportunities to resolve disputes at every stage in my representation of my client.
- I will support pro bono activities.

SELECTED OREGON RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

Rule 1.0 Terminology

(b) "Confirmed in writing," when used in reference to the informed consent of a person, denotes informed consent that is given in writing by the person or a writing that a lawyer promptly transmits to the person confirming an oral informed consent. See paragraph (g) for the definition of "informed consent." If it is not feasible to obtain or transmit the writing at the time the person gives informed consent, then the lawyer must obtain or transmit it within a reasonable time thereafter.

(f) "Information relating to the representation of a client" denotes both information protected by the attorney-client privilege under applicable law, and other information gained in a current or former professional relationship that the client has requested be held inviolate or the disclosure of which would be embarrassing or would be likely to be detrimental to the client.

(g) "Informed consent" denotes the agreement by a person to a proposed course of conduct after the lawyer has communicated adequate information and explanation about the material risks of and reasonably available alternatives to the proposed course of conduct. When informed consent is required by these Rules to be confirmed in writing or to be given in a writing signed by the client, the lawyer shall give and the writing shall reflect a recommendation that the client seek independent legal advice to determine if consent should be given.

Rule 1.6 Confidentiality of Information

(a) A lawyer shall not reveal information relating to the representation of a client unless the client gives informed consent, the disclosure is impliedly authorized in order to carry out the representation or the disclosure is permitted by paragraph (b).

(b) A lawyer may reveal information relating to the representation of a client to the extent the lawyer reasonably believes necessary:

(1) to disclose the intention of the lawyer's client to commit a crime and the information necessary to prevent the crime;

(2) to prevent reasonably certain death or substantial bodily harm;

(3) to secure legal advice about the lawyer's compliance with these Rules;

(4) to establish a claim or defense on behalf of the lawyer in a controversy between the lawyer and the client, to establish a defense to a criminal charge or civil claim against the lawyer based upon conduct in which the client was involved, or to respond to allegations in any proceeding concerning the lawyer's representation of the client;

(5) to comply with other law, court order, or as permitted by these Rules; or

(6) to provide the following information in discussions preliminary to the sale of a law practice under Rule 1.17 with respect to each client potentially subject to the transfer: the client's identity; the identities of any adverse parties; the nature and extent of the legal services involved; and fee and payment information. A potential purchasing lawyer shall have the same responsibilities as the selling lawyer to preserve information relating to the representation of such clients whether or not the sale of the practice closes or the client ultimately consents to representation by the purchasing lawyer.

(7) to comply with the terms of a diversion agreement, probation,

conditional reinstatement or conditional admission pursuant to BR 2.10, BR 6.2, BR 8.7 or Rule for Admission Rule 6.15. A lawyer serving as a monitor of another lawyer on diversion, probation, conditional reinstatement or conditional admission shall have the same responsibilities as the monitored lawyer to preserve information relating to the representation of the monitored lawyer's clients, except to the extent reasonably necessary to carry out the monitoring lawyer's responsibilities under the terms of the diversion, probation, conditional reinstatement or conditional admission and in any proceeding relating thereto.

Rule 1.7 Conflict of Interest: Current Clients

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (b), a lawyer shall not represent a client if the representation involves a current conflict of interest. A current conflict of interest exists if:

- (1) the representation of one client will be directly adverse to another client;
- (2) there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will

be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client, a former client or a third person or by a personal interest of the lawyer; or

(3) the lawyer is related to another lawyer, as parent, child, sibling, spouse or domestic partner, in a matter adverse to a person whom the lawyer knows is represented by the other lawyer in the same matter.

(b) Notwithstanding the existence of a current conflict of interest under paragraph (a), a lawyer may represent a client if:

(1) the lawyer reasonably believes that the lawyer will be able to provide competent and diligent representation to each affected client;

(2) the representation is not prohibited by law;

(3) the representation does not obligate the lawyer to contend for something on behalf of one client that the lawyer has a duty to oppose on behalf of another client; and

(4) each affected client gives informed consent, confirmed in writing.

NEW LAWYER MENTORING PROGRAM RULE

(adopted by the Oregon Supreme Court December 6, 2010)

1. Applicability. All lawyers admitted to practice in Oregon after January 1, 2011 must complete the requirements of the Oregon State Bar's New Lawyer Mentoring Program (NLMP) except as otherwise provided in this rule.

2. Administration of the NLMP; MCLE Credit.

- 2.1. The OSB Board of Governors shall develop the NLMP curriculum and requirements in consultation with the Supreme Court and shall be responsible for its administration. The OSB Board of Governors shall appoint a standing committee to advise the BOG regarding the curriculum and administration of the NLMP.
- 2.2. The OSB Board of Governors may establish a fee to be paid by new lawyers participating in the NLMP.
- 2.3. The OSB Board of Governors shall establish by regulation the number of Minimum Continuing Legal Education credits that may be earned by new lawyers and mentors for participation in the NLMP.

3. New Lawyer's Responsibilities.

- 3.1. The NLMP shall be operated in two sessions each year, one beginning on May 15 and the other on October 15. Unless deferred or exempt under this rule, new lawyers must enroll, in the manner prescribed by the OSB, in the first NLMP session after their admission to the bar.
- 3.2. The new lawyer shall be responsible for ensuring that all requirements of the NLMP are completed within the requisite period including, without limitation, filing a Completion Certificate executed by the assigned mentor attesting to successful completion of the NLMP.
- **4. Appointment of Mentors.** The Supreme Court will appoint mentors recommended by the OSB Board of Governors. To qualify for appointment, the mentor must be a member of the OSB in good standing, with at least seven years of experience in the practice of law, and have a reputation for competence and ethical and professional conduct. All appointed mentors must complete the NLMP mentor training before participating in the program.

5. Deferrals.

- 5.1. The following new lawyers are eligible for a temporary deferral from the NLMP requirements:
 - 5.1.1. New lawyers on active membership status whose principal office is outside the State of Oregon and for whom the OSB determines that no mentorship can be arranged conveniently; and
 - 5.1.2. New lawyers serving as judicial clerks; and
 - 5.1.3. New lawyers who are not engaged in the practice of law.
- 5.2. A new lawyer who is granted a deferral under section 5.1.1 of this Rule and who, within two years of beginning to practice law in any jurisdiction, establishes a principal office within the State of Oregon, must enroll in the next NLMP session. A new lawyer whose participation in the NLMP was deferred under sections 5.1.2 or 5.1.3 of this rule must

enroll in the next NLMP session following the conclusion of the judicial clerkship or the lawyer's entering into the practice of law.

- **6. Exemptions.** New lawyers who have practiced law in another jurisdiction for two years or more are exempt from the requirements of the NLMP.
- 7. Certificate of Completion; Noncompliance.
 - 7.1. Each new lawyer is expected to complete the NLMP within 12 months of the date of enrollment, but in no event later than December 31 of the first full year of admission to the bar. The Certificate of Completion must be filed with the bar on or before that date.
 - 7.2. A new lawyer who fails to file a Certificate of Completion by December 31 of the first full year of admission shall be given written notice of noncompliance and shall have 60 days from the date of the notice to cure the noncompliance. Additional time for completion of the NLMP may be granted for good cause shown. If the noncompliance is not cured within the time granted, the OSB Executive Director shall recommend to the Supreme Court that the affected member be suspended from membership in the bar.
- 8. Reinstatement. A new lawyer suspended for failing to timely complete the NLMP may seek reinstatement by filing with the OSB Executive Director a Certificate of Completion and a statement attesting that the applicant did not engage in the practice of law during the period of suspension except where authorized to do so, together with the required fee for the NLMP and a reinstatement fee of \$100. Upon receipt of the foregoing, the Executive Director shall recommend to the Supreme Court that the member be reinstated. The reinstatement is effective upon approval by the Court. Reinstatement under this rule shall have no effect upon the member's status under any proceeding under the Bar Rules of Procedure.

NLMP CALENDAR FOR 2011-SPRING SESSION^{*}

May 6, 2011	Swearing-In Ceremony
June 3, 2011	Enrollment Forms Due
June 17, 2011	Mentor matches announced
July 15, 2011	Initial meeting between New Lawyer and Mentor
July 29, 2011	Alternate Plan proposals due
May 6, 2012	One year mentoring term ends, Certificates of Completion may be filed
December 31, 2012	Last day for Certificates of Completion
January 13, 2013	Notices of noncompliance sent
March 13, 2013	Noncompliance "cure" period expires
March 15, 2013	Suspension recommendations sent to Supreme Court

NLMP Calendar for 2011-Fall Session*

October 6, 2011	Swearing-In Ceremony
November 3, 2011	Enrollment Forms Due [*]
November 17, 2011	Mentor matches announced
December 15, 2011	Initial meeting between New Lawyer and Mentor
December 29, 2011	Alternate Plan proposals due
October 6, 2012	One year mentoring term ends, Certificates of Completion may be filed
December 31, 2012	Last day for Certificates of Completion
January 13, 2013	Notices of noncompliance sent
March 13, 2013	Noncompliance "cure" period expires
March 15, 2013	Suspension recommendations sent to Supreme Court

*New lawyers who are admitted other than at the scheduled swearing-in ceremonies will have adjusted deadlines for filing enrollment forms, mentor match, initial meetings, alternate proposals and end of one-year term, all of which will be based on actual admission date.

INITIAL MEETING GUIDE

What	Mentor	New Lawyer
Come prepared	Learn what you can about your	Learn what you can about your
	new lawyer prior to the initial	mentor prior to the initial
	meeting.	meeting.
Mentor's Career	Tell a brief story about your	Listen. Ask questions.
Story	career, including a discussion	
	about your mentors and their	
	lessons. If you had no mentors,	
	discuss how it affected your	
	career.	
New Lawyer's Goals	Listen. Ask questions. Discuss	Explain your career goals,
		including practice areas that
		interest you.
Compliance Deadline	Review the expected time for	Acknowledge your understanding
	completion of the NLMP, including	of the deadlines and your
	extensions if necessary, and the	responsibility for successful
	consequences of noncompliance.	completion.
Prepare the	Review the plan components.	Review the plan in advance and be
Mentoring Plan ^{‡‡}	Discuss the new lawyer's practice	prepared to discuss your practice
	area interest and any adjustments	area choice and any other
	to meet the new lawyer's	adjustments for your individual
	individual needs.	needs.
Establish a regular	Inform the new lawyer of your	Commit to organizing your time so
meeting schedule.	time commitments and general	as to make efficient use of
	schedule; agree on a method and	mentoring meetings. Be
	frequency for communication	considerate of the mentor's
	between scheduled meetings.	schedule.
Agree to be candid	Explain that you will inform the	Explain that you will inform the
about any problems.	new lawyer if a problem arises in	mentor if a problem arises in the
	the mentoring relationship, or if a	mentoring relationship, or if a
	desired result is not being	desired result is not being
	achieved.	achieved.

⁺⁺ If your firm has an established plan, determine if it has been qualified under the NLMP; if not, you can seek approval by submitting a request explaining how the firm's plan is substantially similar to and will provide substantially equivalent experiences to the new lawyer as the standard plan.

APPENDIX OF FORMS

NLMP Enrollment Form (to be used by all new admittees to enroll in the NLMP, to certify their exemption, or request a deferment).

The Mentoring Plan (a worksheet on which the new lawyer and mentor develop the plan and track the completion of activities).

Elective Practice Area Activities (a list of suggest practice area activities from which the new lawyer and mentor select at least ten to be completed during the mentoring year).

Certificate of Completion (to be filed with the NLMP Administrator when all mentoring plan activities have been completed).

NLMP Enrollment Form

Name		OSB #
Address		Phone
		E-mail
law in	•	have engaged in the active, substantial and continuous practice of for two or more years prior to admission in Oregon.
	am unemployed or employed	
	will be practicing in another st vhy you believe it will be difficult to p	ate. (If you check this box, attach a separate sheet explaining your situation and participate in the NLMP.)
	Ment	tor Match Information
Employer N	ame & Address	
I would pret	fer an 🗌 inside 🗌 outside n	nentor.
Name of pro	oposed mentor, if applicable:	
Practice Are	eas of Interest (you may include	e up to three):
Do you wisł	to be matched by age, gender	r or ethnicity? If so, please complete the applicable portion(s) below:
l would like	a mentor who is 🗌 less than	more than 10 years older than me.
Gender:	🗌 Male 🛛 🗌 Female	
Ethnicity:	Caucasian	Asian/Pacific Islander
	African-American	Native American
	Hispanic/Latino	Other
		to have considered in matching you with a mentor? If yes, please

Mentoring Plan

(to be filed with the Oregon State Bar upon completion)

New Lawyer_____

Mentor_____

	Activity	Date Completed
L. Intr	oduction to the Legal Community, Public Service and Bar Service	
a.	As soon as practicable after receipt of the mentoring match, the new	
	lawyer and mentor meet to get acquainted and design the mentoring	
	plan. The new lawyer is responsible for arranging the initial meeting.	
b.	Introduce the new lawyer to other lawyers and staff members at the	
	mentor's office or workplace or ascertain that such introductions have	
	already occurred.	
c.	Introduce the new lawyer to other lawyers in the community through	
	attendance at meetings of the local bar association or another law-	
	related group. Discuss opportunities for participating in the work of	
	local, state or national bar organizations and the value of professional	
	networking and relationships gained thereby.	
d.	Discuss a lawyer's professional obligations regarding and the personal	
	rewards arising from community and public service, and supporting	
	and providing legal service to low income clients.	
e.	Acquaint the new lawyer with Campaign for Equal Justice, the Oregon	
	Law Foundation and other law-related charitable organizations.	
	Acquaint the new lawyer with programs in which lawyers in private	
	practice can provide pro bono legal services. Alternatively, have the	
	new lawyer report on a visit with someone closely connected to these	
	services.	
f.		
	OSB and local bar programs (including the ONLD and local bar young	
	lawyer groups) and how being involved in such activities promotes	
	professional and personal development.	
g.	Escort the new lawyer on a tour of the local courthouse(s) and, to the	
	extent practicable, introduces the new lawyer to members of the	
	judiciary, court personnel, and clerks of court. (Required only for new	
	lawyers whose practices will take them to the courthouse.)	
h.	Describe and explain the customs and expectations of etiquette and	
	behavior in the legal community such as cooperating with reasonable	
	requests of opposing counsel that do not prejudice the rights of the	
	lawyer's client, punctuality in fulfilling all professional commitments,	
	avoiding offensive tactics, and treating opposing parties and counsel	
	with courtesy, and discuss the value of adhering to those customs and	
	practices.	

	Ies of Professional Conduct / Standards of Professionalism Discuss the lawyer's oath and of the practical application of the	
u.	obligation to protect the laws of the State of Oregon and the United	
	States.	
b.	Discuss the core lawyering values of confidentiality and loyalty with	
	reference to the Oregon Rules of Professional Conduct. Review and	
	discuss in depth at least two of the following Rules:	
	 1.7 thru 1.11 Conflicts of Interest ; 	
	 3.3. Candor Toward the Tribunal; 	
	 4.2 Communication with Persons Represented by Counsel; or 	
	 4.2 Communication with relisions hepresented by counsel, of 4.3 Dealing with Unrepresented Persons. 	
c.	Review and discuss ethical issues that arise with some regularity in the	
	practice setting and best practices for resolving them, with reference	
	to experience as well as the Rules of Professional Conduct. Review and	
	discuss the importance of and methods used to screen for conflicts.	
	Discuss available resources for resolving ethical issues, including	
	consultation with the OSB ethics advice service, private ethics counsel,	
	and in-house ethics counsel or committees.	
d.	Discuss how a new lawyer should handle a situation in which it is	
	believed that another lawyer has violated ethical duties, including the	
	duty to report certain kinds of misconduct. Discuss what to do if the	
	new lawyer believes he or she has been instructed to engage in	
	prohibited conduct.	
<u>е.</u> f.	Review and discuss the OSB Statement on Professionalism.	
1.	Discuss and explain the Minimum Continuing Legal Educations requirements and ways to fulfill such requirements, including OSB	
	programs.	
σ	Discuss the importance of cultural competence to effectively	
۶.	representing diverse clients and working in a diverse legal community.	
Int	roduction to Law Office Management	
a.	Discuss good time keeping and time management techniques.	
b.	If the new lawyer and the mentor are in the same firm, discuss the	
	new lawyer's role in the billing system. If not in the same firm, review	
	and discuss good billing practices.	
с.	Review and discuss trust account rules and best practices for handling	
	of client funds, including importance of clearing checks before funds	
	are drawn and authority needed to pay lawyer fees from client funds	
	in trust.	
d.	Review and discuss malpractice insurance coverage including	
	disclosure requirements.	
e.	Introduce calendar and "tickler" or reminder systems.	
f.	Introduce the use of information technology systems in law practice.	

	lawyer might find particularly helpful in his or her work.	
h.	Discuss the roles and responsibilities of paralegals, secretaries, and	
	other office personnel, and how to establish good working	
	relationships with others in the office who are support staff,	
	colleagues, or senior partners.	
i.	Review and discuss a lawyer's responsibility as a subordinate under	
	RPC 5.2, and as a supervisor of non-lawyers under RPC 5.3.	
I. W	orking with Clients	
a.	Discuss the importance of knowing who you represent, particularly	
	when representing corporations, government agencies or other	
	organizations.	
b.	Discuss client interaction, including tips for gathering information	
	about a legal matter and appraising the credibility and trust of a	
	potential client.	
C.	Review how to screen for, recognize, and avoid conflicts of interest.	
	Discuss issues that arise regarding the scope of representation.	
	Discuss "DOs and DON'Ts" of maintaining good ongoing client	
	relations, such as returning telephone calls and keeping clients	
	informed about matters.	
f.	Participate in or observe at least one client interview or client	
	counseling session.	
g.	Discuss how to decide whether to accept a proffered representation.	
	Discuss how to talk about and set the fee for legal services. Review	
	retainers and fee agreements and discuss the importance of written	
	engagement agreements.	
i.	Discuss how to deal with a difficult client and how to decline	
	representation of the unrealistic or "impossible" client.	
j.	Discuss terminating the lawyer-client relationship and necessary	
-	documentation.	
	reer Satisfaction and Work/Life Balance	
	Discuss how to handle challenging relationships in and outside the	
5.	office, and how to develop a support systems of colleagues and others	
	with whom the new lawyer can discuss problems as they arise.	
b.	Discuss the new lawyer's career objectives and how best to achieve	
	them. If applicable, discuss the importance of having a business plan	
	for developing a practice.	
C.	Discuss the importance of making time for family, friends, and other	
	personal interests, including how to manage billable hour or other	
	performance requirements to enable an appropriate balance of	
	professional obligations and personal life.	
d.	Discuss the warning signs of substance abuse and depression and how	
	to address those problems when they are manifested in the new	
	lawyer or others. Review and discuss the support and counseling	
	available to the new lawyer and the new lawyer's family through the	

B. Elective Practice Area Activities

Select and complete at least ten (10) Practice Area Activities in one or more substantive law Practice Areas shown on the following pages. At least one of the Activities must be a writing project that the mentor reviews with the new lawyer. If the new lawyer is interested in a practice area not included here, the new lawyer and mentor may identify basic skill activities in that practice area to include in the mentoring plan. The activities and experiences suggested on the following pages may be adjusted to the new lawyer's particular practice setting and individual needs.

Activity	Date Completed
1.	
2.	
3.	
4.	
5.	
6.	
7.	
8.	
9.	
10.	

Elective Practice Area Activities

1. Civil Litigation

- a. Rules and Pleadings
 - (1) Review and discuss the local rules of the Federal District Court of Oregon or the Oregon Uniform Trial Court Rules, as applicable, focusing on issues that frequently arise.
 - (2) Review and discuss the Supplemental Local rules for your county's Circuit Court focusing on issues that frequently arise.
 - (3) Review and discuss pleading standards.
 - (4) Participate in preparing a complaint.
 - (5) Review, discuss and prepare a summons and cause it to be served.
 - (6) Participate in preparing an answer to complaint, counterclaim, cross-claim or thirdparty complaint.
 - (7) Discuss and participate in a "conference" before filing a motion (include why is it required, what constitutes conferral, provision of authorities for one's position, necessity for dispositive motions.)
 - (8) Discuss the pros and cons of a motion to dismiss in federal court or state court.
 - (9) Prepare, file, and argue a motion. Review and discuss.
- b. Discovery and Summary Judgment
 - (1) Prepare for and observe or participate in a discovery planning conference with opposing counsel in a state or federal court case.
 - (2) Participate in or observe a Rule 16 scheduling conference in the Federal District Court of Oregon.
 - (3) Participate in or observe a scheduling conference in state court.
 - (4) Participate in or observe an interview of a witness. Discuss how to take a proper statement from a witness for use at trial.
 - (5) Discuss common issues of professionalism in a litigation practice including scheduling courtesies, who will produce documents or be deposed first, where will depositions occur, personal attacks in briefs or hearings, proper usage of email and fax communications, returning phone calls, appropriate courtroom conduct by counsel and client, preparation of a client for the courtroom, and others.
 - (6) Prepare one of the following: a Request for Production of Documents, a Request for Admissions, or, if in Federal Court, a set of Interrogatories.
 - (7) Prepare a Response to one of the following: a Request for Production of Documents, a Request for Admissions, or if in Federal Court, a Set of Interrogatories.
 - (8) Discuss the proper preparation of a witness for a deposition and the proper conduct of an attorney taking and defending a deposition.
 - (9) Participate in the preparation for and the taking of a deposition of a witness or adverse party in a civil.

- (10) Participate in the preparation for and defense of a deposition of a witness for your client or of your client in a civil action.
- (11) Participate in identifying expert witnesses and producing expert witness reports.
- (12) Discuss or participate in preparing motions and memoranda in support of summary judgment in state or federal court.
- c. Trial preparation and trial
 - (1) Discuss or participate in final trial preparations including preparing pretrial order and making pretrial disclosures of witnesses and exhibits.
 - (2) Attend to observe or participate in a final pretrial conference in state or federal court.
 - (3) Participate in an evidentiary hearing in a state or federal court.
 - (4) Participate in or observe a trial (or significant parts of one) in a civil or criminal case in either a state or federal court.
 - (5) Discuss the mechanics of trial, including where to be when questioning a witness or addressing the court, proper attire, when to stand, courtroom decorum, addressing opposing counsel, judge's bench books, etc.

2. Criminal Litigation

- a. Observe or participate in client interview or in a meeting with a key prosecution witness.
- b. Discuss factors considered by prosecutors in making charging decision.
- c. Participate in charge negotiations between defense counsel and the prosecutor's office.
- d. Participate in making a discovery request in a criminal case, including request for exculpatory materials.
- e. Discuss defense discovery obligations in state cases.
- f. Participate in engagement of private investigator for defense to interview witnesses and discuss the ethical issues involved in the use of state or federal investigators.
- g. Review information or indictment for constitutional and/or pleading defects.
- h. Research elements of crime charged or under investigation; discuss.
- i. Review and discuss pretrial diversion options.
- j. Review and discuss plea in abeyance statute in a particular case and study applicable statute.
- k. Discuss alternatives to prosecution in state cases such as specialty courts, diversion, and civil compromise.
- I. Review and discuss criteria in federal cases for a one- or two-level reduction of offense in a particular case and study applicable statute.
- m. Discuss elements of greater and lesser offenses and range of mandatory and discretionary sentences in a state case.
- n. Participate in discussions about and make or oppose a bail or pretrial release request .
- o. Observe and participate in trial.
- p. Observe and participate in entry of plea in state or federal court.
- q. Review and discuss Presentence Report; participate in filing objections.

- r. Research and participate in analysis of federal sentencing guidelines in particular federal case.
- s. Research and participate in analysis of sentencing guidelines in a particular state case.

3. Administrative Law

- a. Review and discuss the Oregon Administrative Procedures Act.
- b. Review and discuss the Attorney General's Model and Uniform Administrative Rules.
- c. Review and discuss the administrative rules promulgated by the Office of Administrative Hearings.
- d. Review and discuss the Oregon Public Records Law and the Oregon Open Meetings Law.
- e. Meet the Chief Administrative Law Judge and available administrative law judges from the Office of Administrative Hearings.
- f. Attend several types of administrative law contested case hearings which are open to the public.
- g. Participate in or observe an administrative law case from intake through hearing and final order.
- h. Review the OSB Oregon Administrative Law Handbook.
- i. Review the Attorney General's Administrative Law Manual and the Attorney General's Public Records and Meetings Manual.
- j. Review and discuss selected Oregon administrative law appellate case law.
- k. Review and discuss the OSB ethics opinions related to administrative law.

4. Alternative Dispute Resolution

- a. Review and discuss Oregon statutes on mediation including requirement to screen for potential conflict of interest of mediator.
- b. Discuss the differences between arbitration and mediation and the considerations for using each method of dispute resolution.
- c. Observe, participate in, or prepare for a mediation.
- d. Observe, participate in, or prepare for an arbitration.
- e. Discuss how to prepare a client for mediation or arbitration.

5. Appellate Practice

- a. Review and discuss the Oregon and Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure, as applicable.
- b. Attend and observe an appellate argument in the Oregon Supreme Court, the Oregon Court of Appeals, or the 9th Circuit Court of Appeals.
- c. Review and discuss ORS Ch. 138 through ORS 138.504 regarding appeals in criminal cases.
- d. Review and discuss ORS 183.400 and ORS 183.480 to 183.497 regarding judicial review of administrative agency actions.
- e. Review and discuss the Appellate Court Settlement Program.
- f. Review and discuss the Oregon Appellate Court Style Manual.
- g. Attend a CLE on a component of appellate practice (e.g., brief writing, oral argument).

- h. Review and discuss the OSB Appeal and Review CLE.
- i. Review discuss ORS ch. 19 Appeals and those portions of ORS ch. 21 Attorney Fees; Costs and Disbursements, ORS ch. 21 Fees Generally and ORS ch. 22 Bonds and Other Security Deposits related to appeals.
- j. Read and discuss an article or book on oral advocacy or brief writing.
- k. Participate in the drafting of a brief.
- I. Review and discuss the Appellate Practice Section Pro Bono .

6. Business Law

- a. Discuss the various forms of business entities (corporations, LLCs, partnerships, LLPs, etc.) and the considerations for choosing each one.
- b. Discuss key considerations in choosing Oregon, Delaware, or other jurisdiction for incorporation or organization of new entities.
- c. Draft or review basic documents involved in the formation of a business entity such as Articles of Incorporation, Articles of Organization, Bylaws, Operating Agreements, Partnership Agreements, corporate minutes and resolutions.
- d. Discuss basic blue sky and other securities issues associated with formation of entities.
- e. Conduct blue sky research for a proposed issuance by a private company.
- f. Draft or review Form D and related blue sky notices.
- g. Discuss or review one or more of the following documents commonly developed in a business practice:
 - (1) shareholders' agreement;
 - (2) buy-sell agreement;
 - (3) stock purchase agreement;
 - (4) asset purchase agreement;
 - (5) noncompetition agreement;
 - (6) security/collateral agreement; or
 - (7) promissory note.
- h. Participate in the due diligence process for mergers and acquisitions.
- i. Prepare UCC filings.

7. Constitutional Law

- a. Review and discuss the most common federal Constitutional claims used by attorneys in Oregon. This could include one or more of the following:
 - (1) Rights of communication and expression.
 - (2) Anti-establishment and religious freedom.
 - (3) Equal protection and due process.
 - (4) Privacy.
 - (5) Search and seizure.
 - (6) Habeas Corpus.
 - (7) Supremacy.
- b. Review and discuss how the Oregon Supreme Court interprets and applies the State Constitution and the claims that are used more frequently by practicing attorneys in Oregon. This could include one or more of the following:

- (1) First-things-first doctrine and primacy of state constitutional issues.
- (2) Independent state constitutional rights.
- (3) Interpreting state constitutional provisions.
- (4) Expanded rights in criminal proceedings.
- (5) Expanded rights of expression.
- (6) Impairment of contract, open court and remedies, privileges and immunities, or the religion clauses.
- c. Review and discuss advantages and disadvantages of raising federal constitutional claims in state or federal court.
- d. Review and discuss some of the common issues that arise in claims filed pursuant to Section 1983 of the Civil Rights Act Review and discuss some of the issues related how and where constitutional claims can be raised and what record will be necessary (challenging referendums or initiatives, administrative actions, state statutes, actions by judge during trial, constitutional claims in administrative proceedings, appeals, removal to federal court, referral from federal court to State Supreme Court).

8. Debtor-Creditor/Consumer Law

- a. Discuss and prepare or review a motion for provisional process.
- b. Discuss and prepare or review documents for the appointment of a receiver or an assignment for the benefit of creditors.
- c. Discuss and review statutory and possessory liens and their enforcement.
- d. Discuss and review how to file and enforce a foreign judgment.
- e. Discuss and prepare appropriate documents for garnishment or execution on a judgment.
- f. Discuss fraudulent conveyances and how to challenge or set aside a transfer.
- g. Discuss and review state and federal consumer protection laws including the UTPA, the Fair Debt Collection Act, the Fair Credit Act, TILA, and vehicle "lemon laws" and the claims and defenses they offer.
- h. Discuss and review a standard retail installment contract.
- i. Discuss and review the family expense doctrine.
- j. Observe or participate in a hearing on a consumer law issue.

9. Environmental Law

- Discuss or write a legal memorandum analyzing a significant question under one or more of the following statutory areas: RCRA Hazardous Waste (State and Federal), Solid Waste Management, Storage Tanks, Clean Air Act, Clean Water Act, NEPA/SEPA, Endangered Species Act, Asbestos Management.
- b. Discuss the obligations under applicable Right-to-Know statutes.
- c. Discuss obligations to report the discovery of preexisting contamination.
- d. Discuss or assist in preparing environmental permits needed for a project under both state and federal laws.
- e. Discuss or prepare a checklist for a multimedia compliance audit for an industrial facility.
- f. Discuss or observe a rulemaking process.

- g. Discuss or write a legal memorandum analyzing Superfund liability.
- h. Discuss or participate in preparation for and management of an agency inspection.
- i. Discuss or review agency penalty policy.

10. Estate Planning

- a. Participate in drafting and reviewing basic estate planning documents.
- b. Assist in gathering and organizing client information.
- c. Prepare diagrams of specific estate plans for clients.
- d. Prepare estate planning binders for clients.
- e. Participate in drafting and reviewing probate pleadings.
- f. Prepare notice to creditors and arrange for publication.
- g. Prepare the inventory of an estate.

11. Family Law

- a. Review and discuss the Rules of Civil Procedure, Uniform Trial Court Rules, and applicable Supplemental Local Rules specific to Family Law.
- b. Prepare a petition for dissolution.
- c. Prepare a Statement of Assets and Liabilities
- d. Create a child support worksheet.
- e. Observe or participate in a hearing on motion for temporary orders.
- f. Observe or participate in custody evaluation settlement conference Participate in a collaborative law meeting.
- g. Participate in a mediation.
- h. Observe or participate in a family law trial.
- i. Participate in preparing a premarital agreement or review and discuss statutory requirements, case law, and necessary terms of premarital agreements.

12. Immigration Law and the Representing of Foreign Nationals in Oregon

- a. Review and discuss the substantive law and procedures related to admission and exclusion.
- b. Review and discuss the substantive law and procedures related to removal, including relief from removal (voluntary departure, prosecutorial discretion, regularization of status, extreme hardship).
- c. Review and discuss the availability of judicial review and habeas corpus on matters related to admission, exclusion and removal.
- d. Review and discuss the most common grounds for seeking admission, delaying removal or changing immigration status to avoid removal. (Could include one or more of the following: creating a business, employment, family, victim of domestic violence or human trafficking, refugee, political asylum).
- e. Review and discuss common legal issues related to advising and representing foreign nationals in Oregon. This could include one or more of the following:
 - (1) Future impact of a guilty, no contest plea, or criminal conviction on admissibility and removal under immigration law.

- (2) Effect of immigration status on right to work, buy land, create a business, serve on a board of directors, and similar matters.
- (3) Requirements that employers check immigration status at time of hiring and in response to Social Security mismatch letter, I-9 audit, or other notice to employer from the federal government.
- (4) Effect of immigration status on rights of employees under labor protections statutes.
- (5) Effect of immigration status on eligibility for various government benefits and the potential impact of seeking benefits on immigration status.
- (6) Practical considerations in civil litigation related to discovery or retaliation.
- (7) Getting a drivers license and insurance under the REAL ID act.

13. Intellectual Property and Patent Law

- a. Discuss or participate in patent search/evaluation.
- b. Discuss or participate in drafting and filing a patent application.
- c. Discuss or participate in filing an Information Disclosure Statement (IDS).
- d. Discuss or participate in drafting an Office Action response.
- e. Discuss or participate in a telephone conversation with an Examiner.
- f. Discuss or participate in preparing and drafting an appeal brief.
- g. Discuss and review techniques for successful patent prosecution.
- h. Observe or participate in patent litigation.
- i. Observe or participate in a client interview.
- j. Discuss or participate in trademark search/evaluation.
- k. Discuss or participate in drafting and filing a trademark application.
- I. Discuss or participate in drafting an Office Action response.
- m. Discuss or participate in preparing and drafting an appeal brief.
- n. Discuss and review techniques for successful trademark prosecution.
- o. Discuss or participate in trademark litigation.
- p. Discuss or participate in drafting and filing a copyright application.

14. Juvenile Law

- a. Dependency cases
 - (1) Attend a shelter hearing.
 - (2) Discuss the standards used by DHS for removal in ICWA and non-ICWA cases and reasonable efforts to avoid removal, achieve permanency.
 - (3) Discuss placement options for children including involvement of relatives and visitation arrangements.
 - (4) Discuss the role of the court, DHS, the CASA, and the district attorney or department of justice lawyer (and the tribe in ICWA cases).
 - (5) Attend a jurisdictional hearing and discuss preparation of the parent to testify.
 - (6) Discuss the grounds for initial and continuing juvenile court jurisdiction and the relationship with "reasonable" or "active" efforts by the state to reunite the family.
 - (7) Attend a permanency hearing.
 - (8) Attend a termination of parental rights trial or review a transcript .

- (9) Discuss the role of counsel for a child who is capable of considered judgment; discuss best interests representation of a child not capable of considered judgment.
- (10) Discuss Special Immigrant Juvenile Status for non-citizen child clients.
- b. Delinquency cases
 - (1) Discuss formal and informal treatment of juvenile offenders and scope of court's discretion.
 - (2) Discuss capacity of juveniles to aid and assist and waive constitutional rights.
 - (3) Discuss the role of counsel in delinquency cases and the need to follow client directives as in criminal cases.
 - (4) Discuss pre-petition issues for juveniles, detention, and waiver to criminal court.
 - (5) Discuss direct and collateral consequences of juvenile adjudications.
 - (6) Attend a detention hearing.
 - (7) Attend a jurisdictional hearing.
 - (8) Attend a dispositional hearing.
 - (9) Discuss post-dispositional issues.

15. Labor and Employment

- a. Review and discuss the Oregon Bureau of Labor & Industries/EEOC administrative process. Review or participate in drafting a charge or the response to a charge.
- b. Participate in or observe the BOLI/EEOC administrative process, including a resolutions conference or an appeal to the Labor Commission.
- c. Participate in drafting or review and discuss a separation or settlement agreement.
- d. Participate in or discuss consultation with management on HR issues.
- e. Prepare for and observe or participate in an unemployment benefits appeal hearing.
- f. Review and discuss an employment law issue, such as a claim under Title VII, the Family Medical Leave Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, or other substantive federal law or its state counterpart.
- g. Discuss or participate in drafting one or more of the following: basic defined contribution plans, including 401(k) plans; basic cafeteria plans; basic umbrella welfare plans; routine amendments to plans; determination letter requests; summary plan descriptions; summary of material modifications and summary annual report; distribution forms.

16. Legislative and Administrative Lobbying

- a. Discuss and review the roles that an attorney could play in advising or advocating in legislative or administrative lobbying for a client.
- b. Discuss the state and federal laws that require lobbyist to register, the definitions of lobbying, the restrictions on making gifts, and the requirements related to reporting time and certain expenditures.
- c. Discuss and review the characteristics of effective legislative lobbying, including how to make connections with legislators and legislative staff, build credibility and trust, testify, participate in work groups, join coalitions and similar matters.
- d. Attend and, if possible, participate in a legislative hearing.

- e. Discuss and review how to build relationships with agency representatives and the formal and informal ways to influence the agency in its decision-making.
- f. Become familiar with the OSB Public Affairs Program.

17. Natural Resources/Land Use

- a. Discuss or research a significant question under one or more of the following statutory areas: National Environmental Policy Act/SEPA/CEQA, Endangered Species Act/Marine Mammal Protection Act/Magnunson Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act, Clean Water Act/Rivers and Harbors Act, Coastal Zone Management Act, Federal Insecticide Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act, Federal Land Policy and Managements Act/Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act/National Forest Management Act, reclamation Laws/Reclamation Reform Act, state and local land use laws, water rights laws, and wetlands laws, substantive mining and oil and gas laws.
- b. Discuss environmental, natural resources, and local land use permits needed for a project under federal, state, and local laws.
- c. Discuss or assist with the preparation of a permit application at the federal, state or local level.
- d. Discuss or review Phase I and Phase II environmental site assessments.
- e. Discuss or participate in due diligence investigations, such as compliance with applicable local land use requirements or existence of water rights.
- f. Discuss or review a property transfer assessment.
- g. Discuss or draft a site access agreement for survey work (legal survey, fish and wildlife survey, wetland delineations, remedial action).

18. Negotiation

- a. Discuss how to prepare for the negotiation of a legal matter (e.g., release of a personal injury claim, lease agreement, etc.).
- b. Discuss when and how negotiation should be initiated.
- c. Discuss when and how to involve the client in negotiation.
- d. Discuss ethical and professional obligations of negotiators.
- e. Discuss skills needed to be an effective negotiator and how to acquire them.
- f. Observe or participate in a negotiation.

19. Real Estate Law

- a. Discuss the steps involved in negotiating and completing a commercial real estate transaction.
- b. Draft or review one or more common real estate documents such as real estate purchase agreements, deeds of trust, mortgages, commercial leases, residential leases, Notice of Default.
- c. Discuss the basic provisions of state and federal law affecting real estate and the enforcement of legal rights associated with real estate.
- d. Discuss the taxation of real estate.

- e. Discuss title concepts and issues including marketability of title, priority of interests, forms of ownership, forms of conveyances, recording requirements, statutory and nonstatutory liens and other similar concepts.
- f. Discuss title insurance policy forms, available endorsements and customary insurance and endorsement practices in different transactions.
- g. Discuss distinctions between real and personal property and the methods of transfers of and creation of liens on different asset types.
- h. Discuss easements, reservations, covenants and the enforcement of such rights, common interest ownership options and the applicability of real estate doctrines such as partition.
- i. Discuss survey concepts and issues including metes and bounds legal descriptions, access and title issues presented by surveys.

20. Tax Law

- a. Discuss the principal tax considerations associated with various forms of entities (corporations, LLCs, partnerships, limited partnerships, etc.).
- b. Discuss the general tax considerations associated with taxable and tax-free acquisitions and divestitures, equity compensation, like-kind exchanges and the procedures associated with federal and state tax controversies.
- c. Assist with the basic tax tasks associated with entity organizations, including federal EINs, S corporation and OSub elections.
- d. Discuss the tax forms and publications applicable to the basic types of entities.
- e. Analyze and discuss one or more complex tax matters.
- f. Prepare and analyze tax calculations.
- g. Participate in preparing IRS tax forms.

	Oregon State Bar	
New Lawyer Mentoring Program		
CERTIFICATE	COF COMPLETION	
By our signatures affixed below,		
[New Lawyer's name, please print]	OSB #	
and		
[Mentor's name]	OSB #	
	ver named above has satisfactorily	
completed all the requirements of	of the New Lawyer Mentoring Program	
Mentoring Plan, a copy of which	is submitted herewith.	
Dated this day of	, 201	
	[New Lawyer's signature]	
	[Mentor's signature]	
All new lawyers must comply with the requirements NLMP.	of MCLE Rule 3.3(b). This certification relates only to the	

OREGON STATE BAR Board of Governors Agenda

Meeting Date:March 18, 2011Memo Date:March 18, 2011From:Ethan Knight, Vice Chair, Appointments CommitteeRe:Recommendations for Ninth Circuit Judicial Conference LawyerRepresentatives

Action Recommended

Approve the following list of members as the bar's recommended candidates for appointment as lawyer representatives to the Ninth Circuit Judicial Conference.

Margie Paris, Eugene, 070608

Yoona Park, Portland, 077095

Susan Pichford, Portland, 980911

Ed Talmadge, Medford, 014967